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Dreyfus et al

THE HONORABLE THOMAS S. ZILLY

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTREZT OF WASHINGTON

AT SEATTLE
M.R. et al.,
Plaintiffs, No. C10-20527
VS.
ORDER
SUSAN DREYFUS, et al.,
Defendants.

THIS MATTER comes beforthe Court on plaintiffsmotion for a preliminary
injunction (docket no. 95). This actioris@s out of the State of Washington’s
decision to reduce Medicaid spenglin 2011 in respnse to the current budget crisis.
The individual named plaintiffs are disallland elderly individuals who currently

receive in-home personal care servidasough Washington’sledicaid program,

! This case does not involve issues relatinthe provision of medal care, i.e., care
furnished by licensed medical ptéioners; rather this case relates solely to in-home persof
care services, which consist of non-medical st with activities oflaily living, such as
bathing, hygiene, and eating, and instrumentaities of daily living, such as shopping and
meal preparation.
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which is administrated byefendants Susan Dreyfuand the Department of Social
and Health Services (“DSHS"). Plaintilfseek to enjoin DISS from implementing

an across-the-board reductim the number of pepsal care service hours
beneficiaries currently receive in their oWwames in lieu of treatment in an institution
or nursing facility?

Plaintiffs’ lawsuit is predicated am fundamental misunderstanding of the
manner in which personal care service Bane distributed under Washington’s
Comprehensive Assessment and Reportirguation (“CARE”) method. Plaintiffs
attempt in various ways ttharacterize the hours allottedder CARE as a minimum,

below which individuals cannot safelyside in their homes. CARE, however,

2 Defendant Dreyfus is the Secretary of WWlashington State Deparent of Social and
Health Services. Dreyfusdol. at 2 (docket no. 124).

% The plaintiffs in this case consist of feeen individuals, two nonprofit associations ,and a
union that represents personal care service providers. Whether the organizational plaint(iffs
have standing to bring the claims allegethe amended complaint remains uncleaeeRX
Pharmacies Plus, Inc. v. We883 F. Supp. 549, 553 (D. Colo. 1995) (holding that medical
providers only have standing under Medicaiovisions relating to reimbursement rates or
payment procedures). Moreover, the Uniteaté& Supreme Court has granted certiorari on
the question of whether medical providersymaaintain a cause of action to enforce
Medicaid’s reimbursement rate pision, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(Alndependent Living
Ctr. of S. Cal., Inc. v. Maxwell-Jolle$90 F.3d 725 (9th Cir. 2008¢rt. granted78 U.S.L.W.
3500 (U.S. Jan. 18, 2011) (09-958). This Geul address the standing issue once the
parties have fully briefed defdants’ pending motion to dismi®e plaintiff union for lack of
standing, (docket no. 135).

* The pending motion is not the plaintiffs’ finequest for injunctiveelief. This case was
filed on December 21, 2010, and the issues ctiyrbefore the Court were the subject of a
motion for a temporary restraining order (“TRO™Jhe Court denied the plaintiffs’ request
for a TRO, for the reasons set forth in itgl@r, on January 5, 2011. In the short time this
lawsuit has been pending, the Court has tecwell acquainted with the parties and the
issues raised by the case. The parties hderhore than 164 sepaeadocket entries, and
the Court has carefully reviewedl of the pleadings andelhrd over five hours of oral
argument on two occasions concerning the issues now ripe for adjudication.
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allocates hours in accordance with betiafies’ relative neds and State budget
constraints, and not dhe basis of what an individual actually needs to remain in a
non-institutional setting.

Since the denial of their motion fot@mporary restraining order, plaintiffs
have had additional time and opportunitiesuidher brief the issues, supplement the
record® and present their arguments. Plaintiffs, however, have not improved their
showing of either likelihood of successthie merits or irreparable injury, and the
balancing of equities and public interest spsrply in favor of the State. The Court
therefore DENIES plaintiffs’ motion arttie “extraordinary” interlocutory remedy

they desire.SeeWinter v. Natural Res. Def. Council, In¢29 S. Ct. 365, 376 (2008)

(observing that a preliminaigjunction is “an extraordinary remedy never awarded as

of right”).
BACKGROUND

Under the Medicaid Act, also known agld XIX of the Social Security Act,
42 U.S.C. 88 1396a-1396w, the federal gaweent provides monetary assistance to

participating States so that they magnigh medical care and other services to

® After completion of oral argument on Janu@8; 2011, the Court adsed the parties that
the motion for preliminary injunction was deemed submitted and directed the parties not
file any additional motions or documents, exdeptrelevant supplemental authorities, until
after the Court could review the enormous quantity of material submitted and render a
decision. Minute Entry (docket no. 164). Norgéiss, plaintiffs fild an offer of proof
requesting leave to amend their complaint to @attain individuals as plaintiffs. Offer of
Proof (docket no. 165). The material submitteglayntiffs in connection with this request
are not timely for purposes of the Court’s ddesation of the presémotion, and have not
been considered, except as noted later inQhaer. Likewise, the State’s Opposition and thg
Engels Declaration filed today, dat nos. 169 and 170, are untimely.
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gualified individuals. If a State elects to pegdate in Medicaid — which all fifty do —
it must operate its program in confatynwith applicable federal lawsAlexander v.
Choate 469 U.S. 287, 289 n.1 (1985). Theddeal government administers Medicaid
through the Centers for Medicare anddbaid Services (“CMS”). 42 C.F.R.
8 400.200. Washington’'s Medicaid pragr is managed by DSHS. RCW 74.04.050
Under the Medicaid program, each papiiting State must submit, and have
approved by CMS, a state plan for firevision of “medical assistanceSee
42 C.F.R. § 430.10. Only some categorieshaddical assistancesuch as inpatient
and outpatient hospital care, are mandatorypéaticipating Statesvhile others, such
as in-home “personal care services,” are optioBake42 U.S.C. 88 1396d(a) &
1396a(a)(10)(A). Washington has electegrovide “personal care services,” which
are defined by the Medicaid Act as services that are
furnished to an individual who is nah inpatient or resident of a
hospital, nursing facility, interméate care facility for the mentally
retarded, or institution for mental dase that are (A) dloorized for the
individual by a physician or in acatance with a plan of treatment or
(at the option of the State) othereiauthorized for the individual in
accordance with a servipgan approved by the &g, (B) provided by an
individual who is qualified to prade such services and who is not a

member of the individual's familyand (C) furnished in a home or other
location.

42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a)(24). BIS has further divided persdreare services into two
types of activities for which Imeficiaries might require physical or verbal assistance
namely activities of daily living (“ADLSs”) ad instrumental activities of daily living

(“IADLs”"). WAC 388-106-0010. ADLs inlude basic personal tasks like bathing,
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dressing, eating, and toilet use, while IADdansist of functions performed around the
home or community, for example, shoppinggal preparation, and housekeepiid).

In administering Washington'’s long-tenmersonal care services program,
DSHS uses a system known as CARE. ®@/288-106-0065. CARE begins with an
individualized assessment that assesseb beneficiary’s functional capacity using
five criteria, namely (i) cognitive perforance score; (ii)lmical complexity;
(i) mood/behavior ad behavior point score; (MDL score; and (v) exceptional
care. WAC 388-106-0125. Based on the lissaf these examinations, the beneficiaty
is placed into one of five aity classification groups (A-E)ld. For example, if an
individual meets the criteria for clinicabmplexity, and has a cognitive performance
score less than four, the individual isgéd into Group “C,” regardless of the
individual's mood and behavior qualifitan or behavior points. WAC 388-106-
0125(3). Thereafter, beneficiaries aretertclassified inteubgroups depending
upon their ADL scoresld. DSHS performs annual G¥E reassessments for all
45,000 personal care service beneficiariesngure that everyone is properly
classified. WAC 88-106-0050(1) (“[DSHK] will assess yoat leastannually omore
oftenwhen there are significanhanges in your ability to care for yourself.”)
(emphasis added).

DSHS has assigned each acuity cfasgion subgroup a maximum number of]
base hours for personal care services. GAB88-106-0125. Beneficiaries with the

most severe functional limitations argsggned to the group and subgroup with the

ORDER -5
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highest number of base houlsl. By emergency rule, WAC 388-106-0125, Wash. $t.

Reg. 11-02-041 (Dec. 30, 2010), the Stdaentified the base hours assigned to each

subgroup as follows:

TABLE 1
Classification 2010 Base 2011 Reduced Base
Monthly Hours Monthly Hours
E High 416 393
E Medium 346 327
D High 277 260
D Med-High 234 215
D Medium 185 168
D Low 138 120
C High 194 176
C Med-High 174 158
C Medium 132 115
C Low 87 73
B High 147 129
B Med-High 101 84
B Medium 82 69
B Low 47 39
A High 71 59
A Medium 56 47
A Low 26 22

Once a beneficiary is assigned toamuity classification subgroup and
allocated the base number of hours assediaith that subgroup, those base hours
may then be adjusted, eithgy or down, in accordance wisieveral factors, including:
(i) the availability of informal supports; (ii) whether there are multiple clients in the
same household; and (iii) the charactersstitthe living environment, for example,
offsite laundry facilities or wood used asole source of heat. WAC 388-106-

0130(2)-(4) (2010). Tdaresult of this computation ike “maximum number of hours

ORDER - 6
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that can be used to develop [a] ptdrcare.” Emergency Rule WAC 388-106-
0130(6), Wash. St. Reg. 1@-P66 (Oct. 29, 2010).

If a change in a beneficiary’s medicandition increases his or her need for
personal care service hours, the benefyamay request a ressssment. WAC 388-
106-0140; 388-106-1303(6)(a). This regumay occur at any time a beneficiary
concludes the allocated hours are not suffici@eneficiaries may also ask their case
managers to submit an exception to I(GETR”) request for additional hours.

WAC 388-440-000%. In 2010, out of the roughly 480 adult personal care service
beneficiaries, DSHS processed approxima2ed20 ETR requestRector Decl. at 9
(docket no. 125). DSHS approved 88%ihe requests for additional hounsl

In 2009, the State reduced the blasars for each acuity subgroup by an
average of four percenjith the largest percentagecreases applied to the
classifications associatedth the least acuitySeeEmergency Rule 388-106-0125,
Wash. St. Reg. 09-14-046 (July 1, 2008).mid-2010, the State restored some of
these base hours, using g@ne principle in reversee., the categories with the

greatest acuity were placed as closelp@ssible to pre-existing levels, while other

® Of the individual named plaintiffs in themse, all have been informed about the ETR
process since this litigation commenced, andtrhave requested an ETR. At least one
plaintiff (M.J.B.) has received additional hgurMot. at 12 n.13 (docket no. 95). DSHS
denied five of the ETR requests after the cotte® reviewing the requests determined that
those plaintiffs did not require any additional hours to preserve their health and safety.
3d McNeill Decl. at T 10 (docket no. 161). T¢wmmmittee determined that two of the other
ETR requests identified chardymedical conditions that remed reassessments in CARE,
and those individuals will ultimaty receive more hours wherethclassifications change.
Id.
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classifications did not regaas much ground. This meftiology was consistent with
explicit legislative instructions:

The personal care services benefdlshe provided to the extent funding
is available according to the assessed level of functional disability. Any
reductions in servicamade necessary for fuimgy reasons should be
accomplished in a manner that asssithat priority for maintaining
services is given to payss with the greatest ne@d determined by the
assessment of functional disability.

RCW 74.09.520(4) (emphasis added).

At issue in this case is a new set afuetions, set in motion in September 201
when Washington Governor Christine Gregassued Executiv®rder 10-04, which
directed each State agertoyreduce expenditures tompensate for a projected
budget shortfall in the011 fiscal period. Exs. 2-3 &renneke Decl. (docket no. 12).
In response to the Govem®Executive Order, DSHS aaanced plans to reduce in-
home personal care service base bdnyran average of ten percéeffective January
1, 2011.1d. at Ex. 4;seealso Table 1 supra The fourteen individual named
plaintiffs in this case will expe&nce the following reductions:

I
I

I

" This figure reflects the difference in theea@ge numbers of base hours across all acuity
categories for 2010 (161.2 hours) and 2011 (144.4shoWhen the decrease for each acuit
group is separately considered, the rangeabfes is between 6.3% (Group E Medium) and
18.8% (Group B Low). The State has imposegeater percentage reduction on individuals
with the least amount of nee@he targeted reductions are cistsnt with the notion that the
individuals currently receivingnly a handful of pesonal care service haiper month are the
most independent and therefore thasit likely to require nursing home care.

ORDER -8
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TABLE 2

Plaintiff Acuity 2010 Base 2011 Reduced Base
Subgroup Monthly Hours | Monthly Hours
AR. D Med. High 32% 309
M.R. D Med. High 236 215
A.B. D Med. 185 166
S.J. C Med. High 162 145
M.J.B. C Med. High 184 168
J.H. C Med. High 176 158
C.B. CMed. 132 115
H.C. CMed. 116 100
K.S. CMed. 133 115
D.W. CMed. 133 115
M.B. B High 146 126
J.B. BMed. 82 68
An.B. B Med. 82 68
T.M. B Med. 83 69

Exs. 1A-B, 3, 4 to Frederick Decl. (docket no. 4®¥ealsoid. at I 3; Exs. 1-4 to Jane
B. Decl. (docket no. 33geealsoid. at 11 4a-4d; Exs. 1-2 to S.J. Decl. (docket no. 2
Ex. 2 to Paolino Decl. (docket no. 45gealsoid. at 1 20; Ex. 1A to C.B. Decl.
(docket no. 29)seealsoid. at 1 22; Exs. 1-2 to ChatwDecl. (docket no. 48); Ex. 1

to K.S. Decl. (docket no. 363eealsoid. at § 14; Ex. 1A to D.W. Decl. (docket

8 Prior to the State’s reductioDSHS granted an ETR to A.Ehat authorized an additional
165 hours beyond the 157 allocated to A.Rotigh her CARE assessment. Exs. 2-4 to
Frederick Decl. (docket no. 40). This adjustinéa ETR has the same effect as assigning
A.R. to acuity subgroup E Medium.

® The State has subsequently reduced’ABours to 146 because her previous CARE
assessment had not properly reduced availableshowccount for the fact that A.B. resides
with three siblings who alsoceive personal care services. Exo 4th Jane B. Decl. (docket
no. 167-8)seealso WAC 388-106-0130(3)(a). A.B. retainsethight to appeal this reduction.
Ex. 2 to 4th Jane B. Decl. (docket no. 167-9).

19 plaintiff M.J.B. has been approved for an Effigtt will increase her base hours. Mot. at 1
n.13 (docket no. 95).
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no. 31);seealsoid. at  19; Ex. 1 to HayBecl. (docket no. 39xeealsoid. at § 21;
Maxon Decl. at 1 5, 18 (docket no. 26); Exo Hayes Decl. (docket no. 47). None
of the individual named plaintiffs satie8 the criteria for “exceptional”’ care, a
prerequisite to placement in the highest naeuity category, GrquE. Most require
only mild to moderate assistance with aitis of daily living. DSHS sent written
notifications to all beneficiaries of thdanned service reductions on December 6,
2010. SeeEx. 1 to Brenneke Dedcht 2-3 (docket no. 12).
PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This litigation ensued shortly after DSHK&nt out the service reduction notices.
On December 23, 2010, plaiifisi filed a motion for a teporary restraiimg order and
preliminary injunction. Mot. (docket ndl1). After extensive briefing and oral
argument on an expedited schedulePacember 30, 2010, the Court denied
plaintiffs’ motion for a temporary restrang order. Minute Order (docket no. 73);
Order (docket no. 76).

On January 6, 2011, plaintiffs aggded the Court’s order denying the
temporary restraining order, thereby creaingpiguity as to th@urisdiction of both
this Court, and the Ninth CircuiiNotice of Appeal (docket no. 7&eealso Order at

3, M.R. v. DreyfusNo. 11-35026 (9th Cir. Jan. 14,20 (Smith, N.R., J., dissenting).

Because of the jurisdictional ambiguity, tkisurt stayed the case pending review by
the Ninth Circuit, and struck, without pugjice, plaintiffs’ motion for a preliminary

injunction. Minute Orde(docket no. 80).
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On January 10, 2011, phiffs filed an emergency motion with the Ninth
Circuit, seeking an injunctiopending the appeal. Qanuary 14, 2011, the Ninth
Circuit granted relief, but not in the foraf an injunction pendg appeal. OrdeM.R.
v. Dreyfus No. 11-35026 (9th Cir. Jan. 14, 201Rather, the Ninth Circuit stayed the
State’s implementation of the emergenayulation pending a rulmby this Court on
plaintiffs’ motion for a peliminary injunction. ld.

DISCUSSION

A. Standard for a Preliminary Injunction

In order to obtain preliminary injuncewvrelief, a plaintiff must demonstrate
(1) a likelihood of success on the merits; §2)kelihood of irreparable harm in the
absence of preliminary relief3) a balance of equitiegpping in favor of relief; and
(4) a weighing of public interethhat supports an injunctiolWinter, 129 S. Ct. at 376;

seealsoAlliance for the WildRockies v. Cottrell2011 WL 208360 (9th Cir. Jan. 25,

2011) (holding that the Ninth Circuit’s “slidg scale” approach continues to be valid
afterWinten.'* A preliminary injunction is “amxtraordinary remedy never awarded

as of right.” Winter, 129 S. Ct. at 376.

1 Under the sliding scale aprch, “serious questions goingtte merits’ and a balance of
hardships that tips sharply towards thaimtiff can support issuance of a preliminary
injunction, so long as the plaintiff also showattthere is a likelihoodf irreparable injury
and that the injunction is in the public interedtd’ at *7. In the presdrtase, the parties do
not address whether the Coshiould apply the Ninth Circug’sliding scale approach.
Nonetheless, the Court concludes that applicaifdhe alternative standawould not lead to
a different result.
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B. Irreparable Harm?

To show a likelihood of irreparable harplaintiffs argue they need only show

that the State’s proposed reduction “nuny them needed medical car&ée

Beltran v. Myers677 F.2d 1317, 132®th Cir. 1982)seealsoIndependent Living

Ctr. of S. Cal., Inc. v. Maxwell-Jolle$72 F.3d 644, 658 (9tir. 2009) (hereinafter

Independent Living Ctr)[*® In the alternative, plaintiffargue they neeonly show a

“serious risk” of eventual institutionalizatida show a likelihood of irreparable harm.

Fisher v. Okla. Halth Care Auth.335 F.3d 1175 (10th Cir. 2003).

Plaintiffs contend that they have st&d the standards for irreparable harm

because (1) CARE is andividualized assessment oktiminimum number of hours

12|n their brief, and at oral argument, plaifsticontended that the Ninth Circuit has already
concluded that plaintiffs hav&hown irreparable harm, and consequently, this Court is bou
by that determination. But the Ninth Circditl not analyze the sutasce of plaintiffs’
request for injunctive relief, and declineddsue a temporary restraining order. OrdgR.

v. Dreyfus No. 11-35026 (9th Cir. Jan. 14, 2011). éast, the Ninth Circuit issued only a
stay pending this Court’s consideration diptiffs’ motion for a peliminary injunction.Id.
Accordingly, the question ofreparable harm remains undecided for this Court’s
determination.Cf. Independent Living Ctr. &. Cal., Inc. v. Shewr008 WL 3891211 at *5
(C.D. Cal. 2008) (holding thadinth Circuit’'s order remandg case for a determination on
plaintiffs’ motion for a preliminary injunctiowas binding as to issue of irreparable harm
where Ninth Circuit issued anjunction pending further review by the district court).

13 The standard articulated Beltran andindependent Living Ctr.ik not applicable in this
case because personal care senacesiot included within Medaid’s definition of “medical
care.” Compare42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a)(6) (definition of medical caméh 42 U.S.C.

§ 1396d(a)(24) (definition of personal care services). For examBeltiran, the State
imposed a rule that completely eliminated ibligy to a class of individuals for Medicaid
services. 677 F.2d at 1318 (damykeligibility for medcal care to individuals who transferreg
assets in order to become eligible for assistance). Similadlydé@pendent Living Ctr, kthe
evidence demonstrated that medical providerald cease providing services to Medicaid
beneficiaries if the Stateent forward with its prop@sl ten percent reduction in
reimbursement rates. 572 F.3d at 658. Imptiesent case, plaintifi$o not face a similar
reduction or elimination of medical services.
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beneficiaries actually require to remairiedain their homes, and therefore, any
reduction of the hours assessed by CARE nattessarily deny the plaintiffs needed
services and will pose a serious risk dtitutionalization; or (2) even if CARE does
not assess beneficiaries’ minimum needsjrbaidual declaratns of the named and
unnamed plaintiffs demonstrate that, at iessto them, the budget reduction will deny
them needed services andspa@ serious risk of institutionalization. The Court
concludes that plaintiffs have failed tdosnit evidence that the reduction will deny
beneficiaries needed services, or that it endlate a serious rigK institutionalization,
and therefore, plaintiffs cannot show likeod of irreparable harm under either
standard

1. CARE Does Not Assess Beneficiaries’ Actual Minimum Needs
for Personal Care Services

Plaintiffs take the position that DSHSes CARE to individually assess the
minimumnumber of hours that each beneficiagtually requires, and that any cuts in
base hours will necessarily provide benafiigs with less assiance than they

absolutely neetb preserve health and safe®laintiffs contention that CARE

% |n addition, to establish stamdj necessary to obtain injunctiraief, a plaintiff must show
that the likely irreparable harm relates torhdhat the plaintiff “has sustained or is
immediately in danger of sustainingCity of Los Angeles v. Lyon461 U.S. 95, 101-02
(1983). The threat of injury must be “real and immediatd.” “Abstract injury is not
enough.”ld. The Supreme Court’s heightened reguient for injuryin cases involving
injunctive relief is particularlyelevant here, where plaintifieek an order from a federal
court enjoining the State frormplementing a State policyLyons 461 U.S. at 112 (noting
that respect for principles of federalisnqué&e heightened shong of potential harm for
plaintiffs to obtain federal injunctiveelief of official state action).

ORDER - 13
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assesses the “minimum” hours each berafycneeds is misplaced. CARE does not
assess beneficiaries’ minimum neddr personal care services.

Although the Court agrees that CAREaives an individualized assessment,
the number of base hours allotted to each of the seventeen acuity subgroups is nq
linked to individual need® Rather, the subgroups reflect the relative acuity of
individuals, with beneficiaries in clasgifitions that receive more base hours having
more need for personal cagervices relative to those aategories associated with

lower numbers of base houfsSeeMoss Decl. at 1 4 (docket no. 68) (“CARE does

!> The base hours outlined WAC 388-106-0125 are based oe time study performed prior
to the adoption of CARE. In that studige department measured the amount of time
providers spent assisting beneficiaries wiit@ir personal care needbsloss Decl. at § 3
(docket no. 68). DSHS then correlatedtinee spent by providers with the clinical
characteristics of the benefiies involved in the study to @emine the relative resource
usage of beneficiaries with similar characteristics. The study did not, and indeed could
not, describe or predict the aat number of hours any spacibeneficiary might need to
perform specific tasks. Rector Declfab (docket no. 125); Mahar Decl. at § 6 (docket
no. 130). To the contrary, the study merely sbdwhat individuals with certain clinical
characteristics require more (or less) persoage service hoursdhn individuals with
different clinical claracteristics.

16 Construing CARE as assessindyorlative need is consistewith the history of CARE,
which DSHS implemented in 2004 in responsthtolegislature’s direction to create a
uniform system for comprehensively asgagdunctional disability. RCW 74.39.005(2).
Prior to 2004, the department used an assasstool (“Legacy”) tlat was subjective and
unreliable. Moss Decl. at 1 5 (docket no.;@8ctor Decl. at § 7 (docket no. 125). The
legislature directed DSHS to create a mamgorm assessment tool based on objective
criteria that would allocate seurces more consistently and thereby ensure that individualg
with similar clinical characteristics would bevarded a similar number of personal care
service hours. Leitch Decl. at { 7 (docket 67); Mahar Decl. at 5 (docket no. 130) (“A
primary goal for the redesign of the assessnwaitwas to develop clasication levels that
would ensure that clients who had the sameaalrcharacteristics would fall within the same
classification system and receive the same lefvgervices.”). DSHS made the transition
from Legacy to CARE in a “budget-neutralianner, dividing the then-available resources
between the various categories of recipie@sel eitch Decl. at | 7 (@cket no. 67). One of
the negative consequences of a shift fromlgestive assessment to abjective assessment
is the loss of flexibility in dealingvith individuals’ unique circumstancegenkins v. Dep'’t of
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not measure how many hours a person ‘ned&ds,instead determines what a person’s
share of available resources should be dbapen the individual's level of acuity

compared to other recipients™).

Similarly, the subsequent evaluationatfier factors, performed after the CARE

assessment assigns a beneficiagnacuity clasfication subgroupseeWAC 388-

Soc. & Health Servs160 Wn.2d 287, 310, 157 P.3d 388 (20@-8irhurst, J., dissenting)
(“The price of uniformity is that fit maipe imprecise in a pacular individual’s
circumstances.”).

" The Court has carefully revied the contrary assertionstire declarations of Charles
Reed and Penny Black, filed by plaintiffs mpgport of their motion. Mr. Reed, however, hag
no personal knowledge about DSHS’s develograed implementation of CARE because h¢
retired from DSHS in 2000, before CARE waseleped. Reed Decl. at | 6 (docket no. 18)
In contrast, Ms. Black was employed by DSiHR004, when it transitioned to CARE. Black
Decl. at 1 4 (docket no. 19). her current declaration, Ms. &lk states that “[tihe CARE
assessment tool produces an accurate measussasftal need. . . . [It] is designed to, has
proven effective to, and is used by [DSHSrteasure the unmet needs that must minimally
be met in order to support a client in his or heme without compromisg health or safety.”
Id. at  28. While she was still emplalyby DSHS, however, Ms. Black provided a
declaration to the Washington State Court opégls in connection with an unrelated case.
SeeBlack Decl. (Apr. 11, 2005), attached to WW®ecl. (docket no. 71). In Ms. Black’s
earlier declaration, she averrit, “[flollowing the assessmegreligible individuals are
classified into fourteen groupisat reflect the intensity afare that is needed. This
classification results in a baline determination of the number of hours of in-home care
[DSHS]may be able to fund Id. at § 10 (emphasis added). Thus, Ms. Black’s current
testimony, that CARE is an individualizedtelemination of actuaheed, appears to be
inconsistent with her testimony when shesvemployed by DSHS, which suggested that the
base hour classification is neased on need, but rather oa tlumber of “hours of in-home
care that the Department may be able to furld.&ny event, on balance, the Court gives
more weight to the testimony of current BS officials, and a plain reading of the
Washington statute and regulatiptigan to the declarations of Mr. Reed and Ms. Black, and
concludes that plaintiffs have not me¢ithburden of producing evidence that CARE
evaluates beneficiaries’ minimuneeds for personal care services.

U
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106-0130 (2010), does not take into consideration a beneficiary’s actual individua
needs when arriving at a final number of authorized personal care servicé®hours.
Moreover, construing CARE as an indiualized assessment of a beneficiary’
actual minimum needs cannot $puared with other facts. For example, the parties
not dispute that the ETR press provides beneficiaries with a process for requestin
through their case manager, an increagbe@mumber of personal care service hours
over the amount authorized under CAREeeMoss Decl. at 1 9 (docket no. 68);
Rector Decl. at { 9 (docket no. 125). If pl&fs were correct in their contention that
CARE assesses each beneficiary’s actaats, the ETR process would be superfluo
because beneficiaries wouldvee require more hours thaéme amount they have been

assessed by CARE.

18 For example, if a beneficiary’s residers®es not have on-site laundry facilities, the
beneficiary automatically recesg an additional eight hours pérsonal care services, without
regard to whether the nearest laundry faegiare across the street or across to8&eWAC
388-106-130(6) (2010) (noting that client is dat to eight hours ofdaitional personal care
services so long as laundry fiitees are located offsite, i.enhere the client does not have
facilities in his or her own hoe, and as a consequence,daeegiver is not available to
perform other services while laundry is don&jmilarly, CARE provides for an additional
eight hours of personal care sees per month when a beneéigy uses wood as his or her
sole source of heatd. The additional eight hours pelomth amounts to sixteen minutes per
day in a typical month, more than enough in June, but likely insufficient in November.
Moreover, the Court notes that a beneficiagated in Spokane will alost certainly require
more assistance with stoking a fire through thetevithan will a benegiary located in more
temperate Seattle. Nonetheless, the aguis would automatically award both such
beneficiaries eight additional persal care servickours per month.

19 Other structural components of CARE maki#idgical to concludehat it determines
beneficiaries’ minimum needs. For examplaintiffs do not dispw the State’s assertion
that CARE’s acuity classification subgroups eoenprised of individuals with a wide range
of ADL limitations. Thus, for example, all indduals who meet theidical complexity and
cognitive performance requiss¢o warrant placement in Group C, and who also have an
ADL score of between nine and seventeen, are placed into subgroup C-Medium. WAC
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Also relevant is the State’s four perteeaduction in personal care service houl
in 2009. Plaintiffs dismiss the 2009 retlan as incomparabl® the present case
because it was smaller. Bogic fundamentally dictatesdh plaintiffs’ contention,
that CARE determines minimum individuneed is true, the 2009 reduction,
regardless of size, must have necessardylted in institutionalization or injury to
every single personal care service benefjciathe State of Washington. Not only
have the plaintiffs failed tpresent any such eviderf@et oral argument, plaintiffs
conceded that the admittedly larger 2@0&duction will not lad to injury or

institutionalization for everpeneficiary inWashington.

106-0125(3)(c). Consequently, twalividuals that have the exasame clinical complexity
and cognitive performance aamssigned to subgroup C-Medium, even if one has an ADL
score of nine (indicating only a moderate némdassistance with daily activities) while the
other has an ADL score ofvaenteen (indicating serious need of assistance with daily
activities). 1d.; seealsoRector Decl. at § 11 (dockeo. 125) (stating that the 10,000
individuals currently classiid in subgroup C-Medium range significantly in the amount of
assistance needed to perform ADLs and IADL Thus, despite having greater need for
services, a beneficiary with an ADL scoreselventeen receives no ragersonal care service
base hours than otherstire C-Medium subgroup.

Y Indeed, the only evider in the record ithat the 2009 reductioid notresult in any
negative consequences to personal care sdreiveficiaries. Moss Decl. at § 8 (docket
no. 68) (“When personal care hours were reddioedll recipients efctive July 1, 2009, the
negative consequences predicted by plaintifisndit occur. Health and safety were not
compromised, and people were not forced mising homes due to lack of personal care
services.”). The increaseshase hours that took effect2010, replacing some of the hours
that the State eliminated in the 2009 reductiors®) ebntradict plaintis’ position. Plaintiffs
point to no assessment of indivaduneeds that triggered the risebase hours. Instead, the
record suggests that the 20h0reases resulted merely frarbudget surplus, negating any
link between the numbers of base hours andtwih“necessary in order to meet the
individually-assessed needs of tient and to permit the clietd remain safely at home.”
Reed Decl. at 1 30 (docket no. 18).
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Plaintiffs’ concession is consistent withe statistical information submitted by

the State. In a review ofsample of the records related to Medicaid beneficiaries who

joined Washington’s persoheare services program after the reductions went into
effect on Januarg, 2011, over 99% of the sampled recordsflected no complaint
concerning the adequacy allotted hours.See2d McNeill Decl. at § 11 (docket

no. 132).

Plaintiffs argue that CARE assesdeneficiaries’ minimum needs,
notwithstanding the structural and logiaatonsistencies that result from that
conclusion. In support of their contentighaintiffs cite to a number of documents in
which department officials suggest tiARE is a method of determining ne€see
generallyExs. 3, 4 to 3d Brenneke Decl. (et no. 120); Exs. 3-4 to 4th Brenneke
Decl. (docket no. 121); Exs. 3, 5 to Logaon Wahlde Decl.docket no. 117); Ex. 2
to Black Decl. (docket no. 19); Ex. 2%h Brenneke Decl. (docket no. 144).
Plaintiffs’ reliance on the various cited documentary and testimonial exhibits for th
proposition that CARE uses an individizad assessment to measure needs is
misleading. Although the cited docum&nib generally reference individualized
assessments and beneficiary needs, thenderts do not specifically address the
purposeof the individualizedassessment, or tieedthat is actually being measured.

DSHS'’s submission, and the very struetof CARE itself, demonstrate that CARE

1 DSHS reviewed the records of 160 out & #99 new and reactivated clients with care
plans completed after January 1, 2011. 2d MiERecl. at § 11 (docket no. 132). Of that
total, only one indicated that the clienlt flnat the CARE assessment did not allot an
adequate number of personal care service hadrs.
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uses individual assessments to measureslbéve needs of beneficiaries, i.e., how
much a beneficiary needs personal careisemelative to beneficiaries with different
functional limitations. The assessment datige needs permits ¢hState to fairly
allocate a limited pool of resources, andjivce preference to beneficiaries with the
highest functional limitation&

Finally, the Washington Supreme Court’s opiniodémkins v. Wash. Dep’t of

Soc. & Health Servs160 Wn.2d 287, 157 P.3d 38807), does not require a

contrary result. Idenkingthe court addressed a provision in the CARE regulations
that automatically reduced a beneficiarpersonal care service hours by fifteen
percent if the beneficiary lived with his ber caregiver (the “shared living rule”d.

at 295. Three beneficiaries challenged theresth living rule, arguing that it violated
Medicaid’s comparability requireme 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10)(B)because
beneficiaries who lived with their caregr did not receive the same number of

personal care service hours as beneficiavies did not live withtheir caregiver, even

22 plaintiffs suggest that, if CARE does not detime minimum needs, it violates federal laws
that prohibit the provision of unnecessary medseazices, as well as CMS directives that
require States to make determinationscoverage based on individualized needs
assessmentsSee42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A) (state plan must “provide such methods an
procedures . .. as may be necessary to safé@gainst unnecessaryliggition of such care
and services.”)seealso42 U.S.C. 88 1396a(a)(33)(A), (a)(37); 42 C.F.R. 88 456.22-.23;
Ex. D to Hamburger Decl. (docket no. 151¥. b to 3d Brenneke &xl. (docket no. 120).
Nonetheless, when pressed at oral argumeaiitgfs’ counsel expresly declined to argue
that CARE, and by extension Washington’s erpieesonal care services program, is invalid
under federal law because individual needs arevaluated. As the plaintiffs have elected
not to press the issue, the Court will not address it.

23 The comparability provision mandates that thedical assistance a State provides for any

individual “shall not be less amount, duration, or scopiean the medical assistance
available to any othresuch individual.” 1d.
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within the same acuitgubgroup. The court eggd, holding that #hshared living rule
violated Medicaid’s comparability provisidrecause some recipients were treated
differently from other recipients wheeach had the same level of neltl.at 297

(citing Schott v. Olszewskd01 F.3d 682, 688-89 (6€ir. 2005)). In this case,

however, unlike idenkins the State is treating individisawithin the same acuity
group similarly. Jenkinsis therefore inapposite, toelextent it involved disparate
treatment of similarly situated beneficiaries.

In addition, however, th@enkinscourt also held thahe shared living rule
violated Medicaid’s comparability requiremt because it reduced benefits based on
considerations other than recipigractual needs for servicedenkins 160 Wn.2d at
298-300 (“Once a person is assessed toime@und receive a certain number of care
hours, the assessment cannot be reduced absent a specific showing that fewer hg
required.”).

Plaintiffs argue that under the secpatlernative reasoning articulated in
Jenkins the State may not reduce benefits withagsessing beneficiaries’ needs. Th

Court construes the alternative reasoning articulatddnkinsas dicta because it was

unnecessary to the Court’s holdingnited States v. Hendersd@61 F.2d 880, 882

(9th Cir. 1992) (defining dicta as langygathat is unnecessary to the court’s

holding)?* To the extent that the language cbbé read otherwise, the Court decling|

24 In addition, thelenkinsopinion cites no authority for tHeoad proposition that Medicaid’s
comparability provision requires the Statgperform individualized needs assessmefise
Jenking 160 Wn.2d at 298-300. This Coeannot adopt the reasoningJ@nkinswhen the
plain language of Medicaid’s comparability pigien (which only requires States to provide
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to defer to the state court’s deténation on a questivof federal law”> Congoleum

Corp. v. DLW Aktiengesellschai29 F.2d 1240, 1242 (9th Cir. 198RAR, Inc. v.

Turner Diesel, Ltd.107 F.3d 1272, 1276 n.1 (Ahr. 1997) (“[I]t is nonetheless

beyond cavil that [federal courts] are notihd by a state court’s interpretation of
federal law, regardless of whether [the ¢@ijurisdiction is baed on diversity of
citizenship or a federal question.”).

The fact that CARE does not determi@ach beneficiary’s individual minimum
need for personal care serviggshe primary reason why plaintiffs’ heavy reliance of

V.L. v. Wagner669 F. Supp.2d 1106 (N.D. Cab09), is misplaced. M.L., the court

addressed the State of California’s demdio eliminate oreduce eligibility for
personal care services based on benefisiasmores in functional capacity testg. at
1109-11. California used functional capad#gting to determine the relative needs ¢

individuals with different disabilitiesld. at 1112 (“FI scores we intended to be used

by social workers and county and state adstiators ‘to compare the Fl scores and F

hours of clients on their caseload.™). w#h CARE, California’s functional capacity

testing was “not meant to be used &sa to predict the number of hours an

equivalent medical assistancestmilarly situated beneficiars} does not appear to require
States to perform individualized needs assestwmwelmen the State has reduced benefits in tf
same proportion to similarlgituated individuals.

25 Moreover, as the Court has previously no@aRE is not an individualized assessment of
a beneficiaries’ actual needSeelenking 160 Wn.2d at 315 (Fairhursk, dissenting) (“The
CARE tool does not—cannot—allocate stpted personal care services based on
individuals’ actual need.”). @sequently, to require the Stabeperform an individualized
assessment prior to reducinghbéts would be nonsensical.
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individual beneficiary needed.ld. Unlike Washington’s method for allocating
personal care service hours, however, to be eligible for California’s personal care
services program, a state statute requirechbo@rkers to make a determination that
each beneficiary “would not be able tona@n safely in his/her home without [the
authorized personal care serviced: at 1111. Consequently, California’s decision
to reduce services based on the relativeeessessment would necessarily result in
harm, because the State hagatly determined that all tie program’s beneficiaries
required the authorized services to rensafely in their homesndependent of the
State’s functional capacity assessmddt.at 1121-22. By contrast, in Washington,
personal care seas are authorizegkclusivelybased on relative need for services,
and Washington'’s statute® not require DSHS to rka an individualized
determination that each beneficiary needsises to remain safely in his or her
home?®

I

I

I

I

28 For similar reasons, the Couejects plaintiffs’ reliance oMayer v. Wing922 F. Supp.
902 (S.D.N.Y. 1996). In that case, Medicaidchéiciaries located in New York received
personal care services based ghgsician’s determination @fie number of hours the patient
actually needed to preserve tieient’s health and safetyd. at 905 (“On the basis of the
various assessments, a medical review teamrdigtes the number of hours of care that an
applicant will need.”). Washington, by contrdsas elected to provideersonal care services
under its state plan, rather thiay physician authorization.
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2. The State’s Budget ReductionVill Not Cause Harm to
Specific Beneficiaries

In support of their motion for a dnminary injunction, plaintiffs filed
approximately eighty declaratidriselating to fourteen nardeplaintiffs and twenty-
one additional unnamed potential classmbers. The Court may not, however,
consider evidence of injury twon-parties because in tNenth Circuit, “system-wide
injunctive relief is not available based dleged injuries to unnamed members of a

proposed class.Hodgers-Durgin v. de la Vind 99 F.3d 1037, 104®th Cir. 1999)

(en banc¥® Thus, the Court will only addressdetail, in this Order, the harm, or
threat of harm, alleged by the remaining tw&lvemed plaintiffs.

With respect to the individual named plafits, plaintiffs’ counsel suggests that
the Court, in its previou®rder denying plaintiffs’ requesbr a TRO, discounted or

trivialized the severity of the various plaintiffs’ medical conditions by treating their

" The Court reduced that number to sevarifye when it granted defendants’ motion to
strike (docket no. 158), and stiuthe declaration of Jennifer Wujick (docket no. 119).
Minute Entry (docket no. 164).

28 In an abundance of caution, however, the €bas reviewed the declarations filed on
behalf of the unnamed potential class membPtaintiffs now seek to add these individuals
as plaintiffs and to amend the complai8eeOffer of Proof (docket no. 165). In the event
the additional plaintiffs are joined, the Court @dress their specific complaints at a later
date.

9 The number has been reduced from fourteegmwelve because two of the plaintiffs no
longer face a threat of harm. Plaintiff M.Jl&s received an ETR increasing her hours and
plaintiff H.C. passed away on January 15, 2011, for reasons unrelgteddeues presented
in this case.
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allegations of harm as merely speculafidrMot. at 13 (docket no. 95). To the
contrary, nothing in the Court’s Order slebe construed as minimizing the severe
disabilities of any of the indidual named plaintiffs, or thimportance of the services
provided through the State’s progranidonetheless, although the Court has
thoughtfully considered thdlegations in each of the pi#iffs’ declarations, in light

of the prevailing standards for injunaivelief, the Court cannot conclude that
plaintiffs have shown a likéibod of irreparable harm. particular, the declarations
relating to the individual named plaintiffs féd show a threat dfarm because they
(1) ascribe the threat ofstitutionalization to plaintiffs’ deteriorating medical
conditions, unrelated to the provision ofg@nal care service hours; (2) demonstrate

ineffective management of currently allbed personal care service hours; or (3)

identify non-personal care serggas the cause of their predicted institutionalization,.

a. Deterioratind/ledical Conditions

With respect to nine of the named pt#is, M.R., S.J., A.B., An.B., M.B., J.B,,

J.H., D.W., and C.B., the record reflects ttetir medical conditionkave deteriorated

%0 plaintiffs cite towinterfor the proposition that specifipredictive judgments are not
speculative, and may be considered by the GOoutetermining a likéhood of irreparable
harm. 129 S. Ct. at 378. Winter, the Supreme Court addressed a proposed injunction th
would require naval vessels engaged in miliexgrcises to suspend use of certain types of
sonar when vessels detected marinenmals within a specified distancéd. at 371. The
Court held that the testimony from militar§fioers regarding the effect of the injunction,
based on themctual experiencaith similar (although not identid) interruptionsn the use

of sonar during training exercises, was nacsfation, but rather, specific, predictive
judgment. 1d. at 380. Here, unlike iwinter, the plaintiffs do not support their formulaic
recitation of “likely” harm (whch the Court notes is repeategtbatim or nearly verbatim
throughout the various declarations) with the type of specifaeece that would render the
opinions specific, predictive judgmentather than me speculation.
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since their last CARE assessmefteMaxon Decl. at 11 20, 29 (docket no. 26)
(M.R.); 2d Maxon Decl. at 11 4-13, 18oket no. 102) (M.R.); S.J. Decl. at T 20

(docket no. 27); 2d Braddock Decl. at fd8¢ket no. 100) (S.J.); C.B. Decl. at 23

(docket no. 29); 2d Hayes Decl. at § 7 (docia@t103) (J.H.); 2d Jane B. Decl. at 11 6

6a, 6b (docket no. 96) (A.B., M.B., An.B. &B.); D.W. Decl. at § 6 (docket no. 31)
(noting that, after latest assessmenktplace in September 2010, D.W. was
hospitalized for ten days in December 2010adeart attack); Motosh Decl. at § 7
(docket no. 32) (D.W.). Corguently, the Court is unable to determine whether the
alleged threat of institutionalization thesetmaar plaintiffs faces the result of the
State’s reduction in personal care servicerbiau the deterioration in their medical

conditions®!

31 Even if the Court could conalle that the allegations in the declarations relating to these
nine individual plaintiffs resed questions of potential harm resulting from the planned
reductions, the State submitted evidence coetting the possibility of any harntee

McNeill Decl. at 1 6 (docket no. 131) (M.RBeterson Decl. (docket no. 127) (S.J.); Harper
Decl. (docket no. 128) (A.B., An.B., J.B., M)BChan Decl. (docket no. 129) (J.H.). For
example, defendants submitted undisputed evidence that J.H. requested new living

arrangements because his live-in provider, Ms. Hayes, refused to allow him to contact family

members, and he no longer felt safe.abecl. at { 6 (docket no. 129). Although

Ms. Hayes disputes the underlgifacts, i.e., whether she rséd to allow J.H. to contact
family members, plaintiffs submit no evidence comérting the fact that J.H. sent a request
to his case manager to change his livimaagements. Consequently, his placement in a
nursing facility is unrelated ttihe number of hours DSHS<hallocated for his care in 2011,
but rather is based on the dadility of temporary care opties following J.H.’s emergency
removal from his living arrangementkd. 1 9. Moreover, many of the allegations in
plaintiffs’ declarations appear te purely speculative. Foraxple, one of A.B.’s providers,
Jeanine Starr, testifies that the reduction in servicegldresult in the need for [A.B] to seek
emergency room care and [A.B.] wikely be admitted to a nursing home at that point.”
Starr Decl. at 1 26 (docket no. 34) (emphasded)l The chain of events described in

Ms. Starr’s declaration is speculati@ebest, and does not demonstrali&edihood of
irreparable harm.
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b. Inefficient Use of Currdly Allocated Personal Care
Service Hours

The record reflects that, in responsé¢h®e State’s budget cuts, plaintiffs K.S.
and A.R. have reduced or eliminated theielwend care provider hours. K.S. Decl. a
1 15 (docket no. 36); Albert Decl. at I (ddcket no. 37) (K.S.); Frederick Decl. at
1 18 (docket no. 40) (A.R.). Prior to treduction, K.S. received 133 personal care
service hours, which she apponed 93 hours to her weekdarovider, and 40 hours
to her weekend provider. K.S. Declf4t14-15 (docket no. 36); Morrow Decl. at 5
(docket no. 38). Although DSHS only rexba K.S.’s hours by 1&he responded by
releasing her weekend provider entirek.S. Decl. at I 6 (docket no. 36); Albert
Decl. at 1 12 (docket no. 37). Now K.Sreseiving more hours during the week thar
she previously received (115 instead of, @it has no coverage on the weekend,
which she contends will result in harm. 3dKDecl. at | 7 (dock@o. 145); 2d K.S.
Decl. at 11 4, 6 (docket no. 97). The Statponds that, ratherah simply releasing
her weekend provider, K.S. could have weatkvith her case manager to develop a

schedule with shorter gaps between c&ee2d McNeill Decl. at 1 6-7 (docket

no. 132). The Court concludes that a factispute exists as to whether the cause of

K.S.’s lack of weekend services couldresolved by effective case management.

Similarly, the decision by A.R.’s guardiaMs. Frederick, to eliminate care

provider hours on Sundays appeto be an issue that might be addressed through ¢

management. Specifically, Ms. Frederickided to cut out one day of care on the

weekend because it was “inconvenient fae[provider]’ to worka partial shift on
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Sunday. 2d Frederick Decl. at § 5 (docketXi8). The State agre that the lack of
assistance on Sundays could create a probled.R’s health or safety, particularly
given Ms. Frederick’s inability to assisittvA.R.’s care. 2d McNeill Decl. at {1 5
(docket no. 132). But the State notes thatErick should not hav@mply aceded to
the provider’'s request to eliminate atErSunday shift for convenience reasott.
The Court can only conclude that the deati@mns relating to A.R. do not suggest a
likelihood of irreparable ijury because, until the Statas had the opportunity to
correct the gap in care through case mamage, the Court cannot determine whethe
the threat of harm is the result of that8ts reduction, or the decision by A.R.’s
guardian to give preference to the provideosvenience over A.R.care needs.

These plaintiffs’ apparent failure tmntact their case managers about their
concerns is particularly noteworthgee2d McNeill Decl. at 1 3 (docket no. 132).
Rather than giving the Stateetbpportunity to correct any gaps in care, these plainti
appear to assume that theluetion will result in harm anthat the only alternative to
reinstatement of their hours is institutionalization.

C. Non-Personal Care Services

Plaintiff T.M.’s provider, a family mendr who currently lives with T.M., is
concerned that as a result of the Statedsicgon in T.M.’s personal care service hour
from eight-three to sixty-nine, she will have no alternative but to seek other

employment outside the home. Hays Dath{ 4, 6 (docket no. 39). She believes

that if she is forced to take a position odésthe home, T.M. faces a significant threat
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of institutionalization because T.M. needs constant supervismfigincapable of
staying safe while alone for more than a few minutég.’at { 6. Plaintiffs M.R.,
A.B., M.B., and A.R. likewise argue thatethface a threat of institutionalization
because the budget reductioil weduce available servicdsr supervision, exercise,
and medication management. Maxon Decf] 26 (docket no. 26) (M.R.); Starr Decl.
at 1 26 (docket no. 34) (A.B.); Jane B.dbat 23 (docket no. 33) (A.B., M.B.);
Partridge Decl. at {1 5b, 28 (docket no) @8.B.); Frederick Decl. at { 18 (docket
no. 40) (A.R.). But personal care servidesnot include supeni@n, exercise, or
medication managemengeeWAC 388-106-0010 (defining psonal care services as
“physical or verbal assistance with adi®ss of daily living (ADL) and instrumental
activities of daily living (IADL) de to your functional limitations.”* Plaintiffs
cannot show a likelihood of irreparable hdvased on factors that are unrelated to the
reduction in personal care servi¢as.

Plaintiffs have not shown that thadyet reduction might deny any of the

individual named plaintiffs needed sems; or that it poses a serious risk of

32 Although regulations define ADLs as inclogd assistance with certain locomotion, the
Court understands the regulations to refdransit between living gtes or areas within
living spaces, not the type of exercise necessapyeserve a beneficiary’s health, which is
more akin to physical therapybeeWAC 388-106-0010; Harpddecl. at § 10 (docket

no. 128) (noting that personalreaservices do not includessistance with exercissgealso
2d McNeill Decl. at 1 8 (dockeano. 132) (noting that persornedre services do not include
supervision).

% None of these plaintiffs are ingthighest acuity claification subgroupsieesupraTable 2
at 9) (T.M. — B Medium; M.R. — D Mediumigh; A.B. — D Medium; M.B. — B High; and
A.R. — B Medium-High) and could ask for eitreereclassification ta higher subgroup, or an
ETR, which could address any problems caused by service reductions.
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institutionalizationr™* On balance, in reviewing the plaintiffs’ and the defendants’
declarations, the Court canraminclude that plaintiffs he shown by a preponderance
of the evidence that the allegations contaimgolaintiffs’ declarations are more likely
true than the contrary allegations in thefendants’ declarations. Accordingly, the
Court cannot conclude that plaintiffs haalewn the likelihood oifreparable injury
necessary to justify a @iminary injunction.

C. Likelihood of Success on the Merits

Although plaintiffs have failed to shoavlikelihood of irreparable harm, the
Court has also considered the likelihoodwécess on the merits of plaintiffs’ claims
that the decreases in personal care sehoces violate the Due Process Clause of th
Fourteenth Amendment tbhe United States Constiion, the Americans with
Disabilities Act, and the Medicaiict, and has concluded thaltintiffs have failed to
meet their burden on that prong of gireliminary injunction analysis as well.
I

I

3 Plaintiffs argue that thedlirt need not rely on the indilual plaintiffs’ showing of
potential harm because the department has ceddédt the cuts will result in individuals
moving to nursing homesSeeEx. 4 to Brenneke Decl. (docket no. 12-8 at 7) (excerpt from
the State’s policy plan noting that “[ijn some cases, a safe in-home plan of care will not b
possible and clients may need to go to commumssidential or nursing facility settings.”).

At oral argument, defendants did concede floahe beneficiaries might require more care
than the amount allocated aftee reduction, and thus mapd up moving into a nursing
home at some future time. Defendants arboejever, that these isssican be resolved by
effective case management, and use of the i#dRess. The Court concludes that it cannot
determine on the present record whether the claimed “serious risk” of institutionalization
the result of the hours reductionmaintiffs’ failure to propdy manage otherwise adequate
resources.
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1 Due Process Claim

Plaintiffs’ Fourteenth Amendment dueopess claim, formerly addressed with
little detail>® is now the centerpiece of theirgument in favor of a preliminary
injunction. Now, for the first time, in #ir brief filed on Jauary 21, 2011 (docket
no. 95), plaintiffs contend th#fte Due Process Clause ensitthem to notice of (1) the
right to request an ETR if the reduced tsoare insufficient to et their health and
safety needs; (2) the riglit a CARE reassessmeatid (3) the availability of
alternative Medicaid benefits, such as mgdhomes. The Due Process Clause does
not, however, require the State to provide rettthe specific information sought by
the plaintiffs. Moreover, as previouslyted in the Court’s Order denying plaintiffs’
motion for a preliminary injurton, Medicaid recipientare not entitled to notice and
a hearing when the State implents a mass change that atsesome or all recipients.

a. The State Had No Obligatiém Give Notice of the ETR or

ARE Reassessment Processes or the Alternatives to
Community-Based Care

Plaintiffs argue that DSHS’s serviceduction notice should have identified the
available alternatives to increase benefiegrpersonal care services hours, including

the ETR and CARE reassessment psses, and also should have notified

% In the first round of briefing on plaintiffsnotion for a temporary restraining order,
plaintiffs devoted little more #n three pages of discussion to their due process claim. Md
at 23-25 (docket no. 11); Reply at 7-8 (doaket 69). Moreover, although citing to the
seminal United States Supreme Caates on notice and hearing rigi@sldberg v. Kelly
397 U.S. 254 (1970), arMatthews v. Eldridge424 U.S. 319 (1976), plaintiffs limited their
due process analysis to whathige State had failed to colgwith Medicaid’s regulatory
notice requirements when DSHS sent outdtginal reduction notification letters in
December 2010.
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beneficiaries of alternatives to communrigsed care. However, the hours awarded
via an ETR are not an entitlermteio which plaintiffs holda legitimate property interest
because, by definition, an ETR is anaad/ of hours in excess of the amount the
beneficiary is entitled to by rule. WA@8-440-001(1(b). Accordingly, plaintiffs
have no right to notice or a hearing ashe availability othe ETR processBd. of

Regents v. Rot#08 U.S. 564, 577 (1972) (holdincgatha beneficiary of state aid has

no right to notice or a heag unless the beneficiary hategitimate property interest
in the entitlement). With resggt to the right to a reassessment, which plaintiffs
contend is critical in lighof the evidence of changestimeir informal supports, the
State may modify an existing assessnvatiiout notice or ampportunity for a
hearing when a beneficiary experiencehange in available informal supports.
WAC 388-106-0050(2)(c). Accordingly, ttgtate is under no obligation to provide
notice of the right to a reassessment uildempresent circumstances. Finally, with
respect to plaintiffs’ contention that theag&t should have praled notice of care
alternatives, plaintiffs alrely have notice. In order teceive community-based care,
plaintiffs must sign a waiver acknowladg their right to institutional careSee2d
McNeill Decl. at 12 (docket no. 132).

b. The State Had No Obligan to Provide Notice and
Hearing Rights for a Mass Change in Benefits

Although Medicaid regulations providerfootice and an guortunity to be
heard in connection with certain State actigeg e.g, 42 C.F.R. § 431.200,

recipients are not entitled to a hearing & 8ole issue is a state law requiring an
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automatic change affecting some orrattipients. 42 C.F.R. 8§ 431.220(b). The
limitation on the hearing requirement ariges of the practicatonsideration that,
absent some factual dispute about an inidial’s right to benefits, a hearing would

serve little, if any purposeSeeRosen v. Goetz10 F.3d 919, 926 (6th Cir. 2005);

Benton v. Rhode$86 F.2d 1, 3 (6th Cir. 1978)[iM]atters of law and policy are not

subject to any hearing requirements urtlerapplicable regulations, whether the
hearing be pre- or post-termination.”). Wiagjton law is in accord, as both the statut
and regulations disclaim any right to aahag for the purpose of challenging mass
changes to public benefits progran®CW 74.08.080(1)(b) (“An applicant or
recipient has no right to an adjudicatpm®ceeding when the sole basis for the
department’s decision is a state or fednal that requires an assistance adjustment
for a class of recipients.”); WAC 388-41820(9) (noting that fair hearing rules do
not apply to a mass changenedical assistance benefits).

Plaintiffs appear to concetfeéhat a mass change does not give rise to hearin
rights; only changes that create disputatts give rise to hearing rightSee

Washington v. DeBeaugriné58 F. Supp. 2d 1332, 1335 (N.D. Fla. 2002) (“Both

sides have agreed further that there isigiat to a hearing when there is no factual

issue attending a denial or reduction in sersiethat is, when there is no factual issue

to be heard.”). Nonetheless, plaintiftsntend that the State’s reduction in this case

necessarily gives rise to factual questiaago whether individual beneficiaries will

% Mot. at 25 (docket no. 95) (noting that Hegs must only be provided for challenges to
service reductions that af&ctually erroneoups
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have sufficient personal care service houmnhéet their needs. While an across-the-
board reduction will always raise factual giimss about the effect of the reduction or

specific individuals, it does not create faatquestions as to the reduction its&ee

e.d, Jeneski v. Myersl63 Cal. App. 3d 182, 209 Cal. Rptrl78 (1984) (“The initial
cutback is indeed an across-the-board rediiin benefits mandated by state law anc
is not an individual denial thereof .[and therefore] we doot believe that an
evidentiary hearing prior termination was mandatory.®J. The wholesale nature of
the State’s budget reduction is fatal taiptiffs’ due process alm because an across-
the-board reduction is, by its very naturarelated to the specific facts of any
individual case, and therefore not a pFppubject for an evidentiary hearitfg.
Plaintiffs are not entitled to notice or hearing rights for an across-the-board
budget reduction, and as such, have daiteshow a likelihood of success on the
merits of their due process claim.
I

I

37 Plaintiffs retain the right to requesteassessment under CARE, or to ask their case
manager to request an ETR on their behalf. Bot#nts provide for a right to grieve or appeq
the decision._Se?&/AC 388-106-1305; 388-440-0001(4).

% |n the alternative, plaintiffs rely heavily @udnicki v. Begl450 F. Supp. 546 (E.D. Pa.
1978), for the proposition that even an asrthge-board reduction of Medicaid benefits
requires a hearing. Budnickj the court held that the&e could not reduce Medicaid
benefits with an across-the-board budgeluction without providing notice and an
opportunity for a hearing, pursuant to 45 & F§ 205.10(a)(4). 450 F. Supp. at 551-52. Th
Sixth Circuit subsequently reject the legal theory adoptedBudnicki Benton 586 F.2d at
3. Moreover, the regulation at issueBuadnickiis no longer applicableSee42 C.F.R.

8§ 431.220(b)Rosen410 F.3d 919, 926 (6th Cir. 2005).
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2. Americans with Disabilities Act Claim
Plaintiffs fail to show a likelihood of success on their Americans with
Disabilities Act (“ADA”) claim because (i) the State’s budget reduction does not le
individuals with no choice to submit to institutional care to obtain needed services
therefore does not violate the ADA’s intagon mandate; and (ii) it is likely that

requiring the State to continue current funding levels for personal care services

indefinitely would constitute a fundamengédieration in the State’s Medicaid program.

a. The Reduction to Personalrf€&ervice Hours Does Leave
Plaintiffs with No Alternatie but to Submit to Institutional
Care to Obtain Needed Services

The ADA precludes public entities fromradhistering programs in ways that
have the effect of segregating disahledividuals from the general community.

Olmstead v. L.C. ex rel Zimrin§27 U.S. 581 (1999)Known as the “integration

mandate,” and codified by regulation, hBA requires that persons with disabilities
receive services in the most integratettirsg appropriate to their needs. 28 C.F.R.

§ 35.130(d)Cota v. Maxwell-Jolly688 F. Supp. 2d 980, 994 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (citing

Olmstead 527 U.S. at 597). In order to colppvith the integration mandate, States
must implement reasonable modification®tieerwise discriminatory state policies,
practices, or procedures, although theAAdibes not require States to make
modifications that “fundamentally alter” tmature of the service program or activity.

28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(7y.

% The fundamental alteration defe is an affirmative defense that the Court considers only

if the plaintiff has met its burden in showi a likely violation of the ADA’s integration
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To analyze whether a State’s actiendate the ADA’s integration mandate,
the Court must apply the following three-pgatest: (1) whether the State’s treatment
professionals have determined that comityuyslacement is appropriate; (2) whether
the affected persons consent to commupli&cement; and (3) whether the placement

can be reasonably accommodatedkihg into account the resources available to the

State and the needs of others with . . . disabiliti€@lmstead 527 U.S. at 607

(emphasis added).

Here, plaintiffs rely heavily ofrisher, 335 F.3d 1175, contending that the
State’s budget reduction wiliolate the ADA'’s integation mandate by forcing
individuals to either forego needed personaé arvices or move to a nursing home.
In Fisher, the State of Oklahoma imposed a limit on the number of prescriptions that
beneficiaries in community-based care programs could receive each riebrath.
1178. The State did not impose a limit on the number of prescriptions that
beneficiaries living in nursing facilities could receivd. The plaintiffs, a group of
individuals receiving community-basedreasued under the ADA, arguing that

Oklahoma’s new prescription litations facially discriminated against beneficiaries

mandate.SeeOlmstead 527 U.S. at 603-04. The Courtynzonsider the viability of
affirmative defenses in addressing whetharmiffs have shown a likelihood of success on
the merits.Perfect 10, Inc. v. Amazon.com, [Mfe08 F.3d 1146, 1158 (9th Cir. 2007)
(“Because the burdens at the preliminary injunrtstage track the burdens at trial, once the
moving party has carried its burden of sivgva likelihood of success on the merits, the
burden shifts to the non-moving party to shevikelihood that its affirmative defense will
succeed.”).

%0 Although the cited section @imsteadonly commanded a plurality of votes, the Ninth
Circuit has adopted it aontrolling authority. SeeTownsend v. Quasiid?8 F.3d 511, 519
n.3 (9th Cir. 2003)Sanchez v. Johnsp#16 F.3d 1051, 1064 n.7 (9th Cir. 2005).
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who had chosen community-based care,vaodld compel beneficiaries to either
move into nursing homes @rego needed medicatiohd. at 1179. The Tenth Circuit
held that the facial discrimination vio&t the ADA'’s integration mandate because it
forced individuals to move into nursitgpmes to obtain needed medical cdck.at
1182.

Fisheris distinguishable from the present caseFisher, the court addressed a
case of facial discrimination. The Stat®vided certain services in nursing homes
that it did not provide to individuals living outside nursing honlésat 1179;

compareTownsend328 F.3d at 517 (noting thatetiproblem with the State program

was notwhetherthe State provided the services, Wiiereit provided the services).
The ADA prohibits States from providirsgrvices to beneficiaries living in
institutions while simultaneoliyslimiting the availability ofthose same services to

beneficiaries who elect to livie a community-based settingeel ownsend328 at

517. Inthe present case, tieeord does not reflect thaitlstate is providing services
to individuals in institutions that it hagdined to provide tandividuals living in
community-based settings. Tlee contrary, plaintiffs’ evidence demonstrates that

individuals living in community-ased settings currently recenm®reandbettercare

than individuals living in institutionsSeeAnderson-Webb Decl. at 31 (“I am
worried that in a nursing hompl.P’s] pressure sores wilbt improve because [J.P.]
will not get the attention [J.P.] needsclmmbat infection and move often enough.”)

(docket no. 105)seealsoJane B. Decl. at 1 24c¢ (do¢cke. 33) (An.B); Davis Decl. at
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1 33 (docket no. 30) (C.B.); Maxon DeclfaB0 (docket no. 26) (M.R.); Paulino Decl
at 1 26 (docket no. 45) (M.J.B.); Hays Del § 32 (docket no. 39) (T.M.); McIntosh
Decl. at 1 21 (docket no. 32) (D.W.); FadeoBecl. at 1 26 (dockeo. 56) (Z.J.); Lee
Decl. at 1 30 (docket no. 147) (G.R.); Frost Decl. at § 21 (docket no. 149) (J.W.).
Based on the record, therefore, thai@aannot conclude that the reduction
discriminates against beneficiaries thatve elected community-based care.
Consequently, unlike iRisher, where the State faciallyiscriminated against
individuals in community-basl settings by only makirgpme medically necessary
services available in an institutionatts®y, here, plaintiffs’ evidence does not
demonstrate that the reduction leaves timenchoice but to submit to institutional
care’

Plaintiffs also argue that they are najueed to show thahe budget reduction
leaves them no alternative busiitutional care, dging heavily onBrantley v.

Maxwell-Jolley 656 F. Supp. 2d 1161 (N.D. Cal.(8), for the proposition that they

only need to demonstrate that the St&apoposed action poses a serious risk of
institutionalization. IrBrantley, California attempted tompose a limit on Medicaid
beneficiaries of three days of Adult YDBElealth (“ADH") services per weekd. at
1167. Prior to the change, beneficiaries ddwdve up to five days of ADH per week.

Id. at 1164-65. Individuals in Califora’s program obtained ADH services by

“1n Fisher, the plaintiffs presented evidence frtimeir physicians that they required more
than five prescriptions per monthd. at 1179 (“[One plaintiff] takes approximately sixteen
prescription medications . . . all of which gmescribed by her doctots Conversely here,

plaintiffs’ personal care services are nwdicallynecessary to preserve the plaintiffs’ health
and safety.
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participating in a rigorous medical screenevaluation over a three-day peridd. at
1165. Following the lengthy assessmeetformed by doctors, nurses, social
workers, and physical therapists, among ottteesieam of evaluators prepared a pla
of care, which included certifications tithe number of days &DH authorized by
the plan were medically necessary to prestmeenealth of the specific beneficiary.
Id. In reviewing the likelihood of success o tmerits of the plaintiffs’ claim that the
State’s planned reduction vaded the ADA’s integration nmalate, the court held that,
underFisher, the plaintiffs need not show thidie State’s action would leave the
plaintiffs no choice but to go into an titation to obtain neeed medical careld. at
1170. Instead, thBrantleycourt held that plaintiffs had met their burden because tk
reduction posed a “serious risif institutionalization.ld. at 1171. In reaching its
decision, the court relied heavily on the phigieprepared care plans, which certified
that the authorized ADH bentsf were medically necessay preserve the health and
safety of individual benefiaries and to prevent the need institutionalization.|d. at
1172.

Brantleyis inapposite. As a factual matter, each of the plaintifBrantley
had physician-certified care plans indicgtihat ADH care was medically necessary
to preserve their health and safety, andrevent the @ed for institutionalization.
Seee.qg, id. (“Of the 100 participants, 44 oféeim have Medi-Cal approved [care
plans] certifying a need for four to fivdays per week dadttendance to avoid

institutionalization.”). Converdy, the hours assessedGARE do not represent the
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minimum number of hours necessary to prenvnstitutionalizabn, and plaintiffs
point to no analogous certiiion by a physician or other professional that says
otherwise.

Moreover, the court iBrantleyerroneously relied updrisherfor the
proposition that a plaintiff need only show a “serious risk” of institutionalization to
establish a violation dhe integration mandafé.1d. at 1171. IrFisher, the Tenth
Circuit did not state that a beneficiarged only show a “serious risk” of
institutionalization to show a likelihood of success on the merits of an ADA
integration mandate claim. 335 F.3dLaB4. To the contrary, the courthisherheld
that plaintiffs had shown a likelihood sficcess on the merits “[b]ecause the [State’s
action] does not allow the plaintiffs teaeive services for which they are qualified

unless they agree to enter a nursing hdnid. at 1182 (emphasis added). Thus, in

Fisher, the court required the plaifis to show that they hadlo choicebut to enter
into a nursing home tobtain needed care. Brantley the court expressly rejected

the defendants’ claim th&isherrequired plaintiffs to showhat the State’s action left

2 The Civil Rights Division of the United StatBepartment of Justice (“DOJ") filed an
amicus brief in support of plaintiffs’ claimarguing that under ADA rilations, parties need
only show a threat of eventual institutionalipatito establish a vidli@n of the integration
mandate, rather than a thredimmediate institutnalization. Amicus Br. (docket no. 139).
DOJ argues that, as the agency charged with enforcement of the ADA, the Court must g
deference to its interpiaion of ADA regulations.d. But DOJ has not promulgated
regulations interpreting the ADAistegration mandate to requioaly a showing of eventual
institutionalization to show a eiation of the integration mandat To the contrary, DOJ has
merely taken a position in thiisigation that the Court shouladopt its interpretation of the
regulation. The Court owes no deference tdfasgeving agency interpretation taken solely
in the context of ongoing litigatiorMid-America Care Found. v. NLRRB48 F.3d 638, 642
(6th Cir. 1998)Alaniz v. Office of Personnel Mgmi28 F.2d 1460 (Fed. Cir. 1984).
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them no choice but to enter a sing home, holding instead tHasheronly required
plaintiffs to show a “serious risk” of ititutionalization to demonstrate a likelihood of
success on their ADA clainBrantley, 656 F. Supp. 2d at 1170 (“Defendants fail to
cite any relevant authority imposing a ‘dooice’ requirement.”). The Tenth Circuit
only discusses the “serious risk” of institutitmation in the context of its analysis of

likelihood of irreparable harm 335 F.3d at 1184Accordingly, theBrantleycourt

erred in concluding that a “serious risk”iostitutionalization is sufficient to show a

likelihood of success on the meiitisan ADA integration mandate claim. The proper

standard to show a violation ofetlntegration mandate, set forthkisher, requires
plaintiffs to show that the State’s amtileaves them no choice but to submit to
institutional care to obtain services forialnthey are otherwise qualified.
b. Any Order Requiring the State to Continue Funding
Personal Care ServiceskRite-2011 Levels Likely

Constitutes a Fundamental Alteration of the State’s
Medicaid Program

Even if plaintiffs could establish a likkood of success on their claim that the
State’s budget reduction violated the ADAisegration mandate, the Court conclude
that the State has met its burden in présgrevidence that téhreturn to pre-2011
funding levels would likely constitute a fumchental alteration of the State’s Medicaid
program. Courts have construed the third element dDlimsteadest as

incorporating the fundamental alteration deferfSege.g, Arc of Wash. State, Inc. v.

Braddock427 F.3d 615, 618 (9t@Gir. 2005) (“The Supreme Court has instructed

courts to be sympathetic fondamental alteration defenses, and to give States

ORDER - 40

U




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

‘leeway’ in administering serees for the disabled.”seealsoOlmstead 527 U.S. at

604 (“Sensibly construed, the fundamémiéeration component of the reasonable-
modifications regulation would allow theg® to show that, in the allocation of

available resourcesnmediate relief for the plaintiffisould be inequitable, given the

responsibility the State has undertakentf®e care and treatment of a large and

diverse population of persomsth mental disabilitie$) (emphasis added). The State

can satisfy its burden to @l that the requested modification is a “fundamental
alteration” by submitting evidence demonstrg that the modification would in fact

compel cutbacks in services to other Medicaid recipieébég e.g, Townsend328

F.3d at 520 (noting that the State coulcebétled to the benefit of the fundamental
alteration defense if it codilshow that the added financial burden would result in
cutbacks to other Medicaid programs3galso Fisher 335 F.3d at 1183 (rejecting
State’s argument that theed to fill a budget deficit veasufficient to constitute a
“fundamental alteration” of the State’s Meaid program, but noting that a budget
deficit might be sufficient if the Stagibmitted evidence demonstrating that
preserving the beneficiaries’ right tolumited prescriptions would in fact compel
cutbacks in services to other Medicaid recipients).

Here, the State has submitted unrefwedence that it will need to make
drastic cuts in other state programthit Court grants plaintiffs’ requested
preliminary injunction.Seee.qg, Drefus Decl. at { 6 (d&et no. 124) (describing

alternative programs that witle reduced or eliminatedtiie Court enjoins the State
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from reducing funding for the personal carevases program); Ex. 3 to 2d Work Decl,
(docket no. 134) (degbing other cuts DSHS will likelype required to make to social
services beginning in March 2011).

Plaintiffs have failed to show a likkood of success onéir claim that the
State’s reduction of hours constitutes aatimn of the ADA'’s integration mandate,
and even if they could sholkely success, their proposetbdification would likely
constitute a fundamental alteration of that&t Medicaid program. So long as a
State is genuinely and effievely in the process afeinstitutionalizing disabled

persons with an even handucts should not interfereArc of Wash. State, Inc127

F.3d at 620. Based on theoed in this case, the Cdudinds that Washington has a
genuine and effective commitment to deinstitutionalizatiOner the last decade, the
number of institutionalized dib&ed individuals in Washingh has steadily declined.
Leitch Decl. at § 2 (docket no. 67); Moss Dextl 2 (docket no. 68). The number of
institutionalized disabled individual®witinued its decades-long decline eadter the
State reduced the budget for personal sareices by four percent in 2009, and
despite the fact that the nber of individuals who ardigible for institutional care
has steadily increased. Lindath Decl. at 11 6, 11 (docket no. 159) (noting that the
number of individuals eligibléor institutional care increzd from 39,506 in FY 2008
to 44,709 in FY 2010, and forecasted to be approxately 51,693 by FY 2013).
Indeed, despite the 200tection, the State transitioned approximately 4,400

individuals from institutional care todhome or residential care in 201[@. at 6.
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Given that the State has a system in plaathhs been proven to work, and indeed h
been repeatedly referred to phaintiffs in this litigaton as the “gem” of the fifty
States, the Court sees no kdsr meddling with matters & are more appropriately
left to state legislaterand administrators.
3. MedicaidAct Claims

Plaintiffs’ MedicaidAct claims, tabbed as the primary focus of this lawsuit at
the temporary restraining order stage of the case, have now been relegated to an
afterthought. Plaintiffs raise no new arguitsefior the Court’s consideration, instead
restating the points that the Court rejectdten it denied plaintiffs’ motion for a
temporary restraining order. Accordingtizge Court will only briefly address the
merits of plaintiffs’ Medicaid Act claims.

a. Reasonable Standards Requirement

Medicaid requires that state plany@dreasonable standards . . . for
determining . . . the extent of medicasigsance under the plan which . . . are
consistent with the objectives of [Medicaid].” 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17). Plaintiffs
contend that DSHS’s reduction personal care servicssunreasonable because it
will decrease available services below theelenecessary for beneficiaries to remain
safely in their homes. Plaintiffs hamet shown that CARBetermines the actual
minimum personal care service needs ofvittlial beneficiaries, and they have not
established that the hours awarded dfterState’s proposed downward adjustment

will fail to meet any individubplaintiffs’ specific needs. Consequently, plaintiffs
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have not shown a likelihood of succesglom merits of their reasonable standards
claim®

b. SufficiencyRequirement

Medicaid’s sufficiency provision requs that “[e]ach service must be
sufficient in amount, duration, and scope to reasonably achieve its purpose.”
42 C.F.R. 8 440.230(b)Service levels are sufficienttiiey meet the purposes of the

specific program.Curtis v. Taylor 625 F.2d 645, 651 (5t@ir. 1980). Whether the

available personal care service hours dfterreduction are sufficient to meet the
program’s purposes must bgamined in the context tifie substantial discretion
States are afforded to cremthe proper mix of amount, scope, and duration limitatig

on Medicaid coverageSeeAlexander 469 U.S. at 303 (holding that Medicaid merely

“3 Plaintiffs cite several cases for the propositihat a reduction in Medicaid services withot
consideration of the needs of indivadlbeneficiaries is unreasonab®eelankford v.
Sherman451 F.3d 496 (8th Cir. 2006Y.L., 669 F. Supp. 2d 1106. But those cases involve
the complete elimination of programs, or the vesale elimination of categories of eligibility.
For example, iLankford the State of Missouri passetha that eliminated optional
coverage for Medicaid recipients for durabiedical equipment (‘“DME”). 451 F.3d at 501.
The Missouri agency administering Medic#iién passed emergency regulations that
reinstated the right of recipientts some, but not all, of the mlieally necessary DME devices.
Id. The Eighth Circuit held that the reinstatarhof eligibility as to only a portion of the
DME devices was unreasonable because theagguidid not provide any mechanism for
individuals to obtain noiovered DME devicesld. at 513. Similarly, irV.L., the State of
California passed a law that eliminated some beraeies’ eligibility for all covered services.
669 F. Supp. 2d at 1117. The law also eliminateelgoattes of eligibility for other recipients.
Id. Conversely, here, none oktheneficiaries are losing eligibility for in-home personal ca
services or categories of care. DSHS is mgaxrercising its broad discretion to modify the
extent of medical assistancelight of scarce resource8eal v. Doe432 U.S. 438, 444
(1977).
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provides a package of services that has the general aim of assuring that individug
receive necessary medical care, it doaisassure “adequate health caré’”).

In this case, DSHS has continuegtovide a substantial number of in-home
personal care service hours following imptartation of the 2011 reduction. Indeed,
the record reflects that over 99% of thedkciaries sampled that have joined the
program since January 1, 2011, havequastioned the adequacy of personal care
service hours allocated pursuant to CARX. McNeill Decl. at 11 (docket no. 132).
In light of the broad discrein granted to states to craft a manageable Medicaid pla
plaintiffs have not shown that the 20dduction fails to satisfy the purpose of
Washington’s program, namely providingabled individuals with assistance with
their ADLs and IADLs. WAC 388-106-0010.

C. ComparabilityfRequirement

Medicaid’s comparability provision reqes states to provide “comparable
services when individuals have compéaeateeds.” 42 U.S.& 1396a(a)(10)(B).
Plaintiffs do not contend, however, tha¢ 011 reduction treats similarly situated

beneficiaries differentlySee e.qg, Jenkins 160 Wn.2d at 297 (“[Clourts have

consistently . . . found that states vielhthe comparability cpiirement where some
recipients are treated differently from other recipients where each has the same Ig

need.”). At oral argument, counsel for pl#is conceded thatllesimilarly situated

4 Plaintiffs contend that any reliance Atexandelis misplaced because that case addresse
violations of the Rehabilitation Act. Madt 36 n.58 (docket no. 95). The Supreme Court’s
discussion about the purposithe Medicaid Act irAlexanderis nonetheless guidance in this
Court’s consideration of whether the State’s 2011 budget vallige sufficient resources to
meet the program’s purposes.
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beneficiaries (i.e., beneficiaries in thereaacuity subgroup) are subject to the same
reduction in hours. Moreover, CMS régiions interpreting the comparability
provision appear to contemplate that state agencies “may place appropriate limits
service.” 42 C.F.R. § 440.230(8).Accordingly, plaintiffs have failed to show a
likelihood of success on the meraktheir comparability claim.

d. Free Choice Requirement

Medicaid’s free choice provision requiresitbbeneficiaries be “informed of the

feasible alternatives” to institutional casnd have individuathoice. 42 U.S.C.

88 1396n(c)(2)(C), 1396n(d)(2)(CHere, plaintiffs apparently contend that the State

did not inform them of feasi® alternatives when it distributed notices of the planne(
reductions in services in December 2010. But plaintiffs indas® are necessarily
already aware of alternatives to institutionakcaBy virtue of their receipt of persona
care service, either under Washington’sesdéan or through one of its Medicaid

waiver programs, the plaintiffs are alreadytjggating in Washington’s alternative to

> Specifically, the regulations provide that]ie agency may place appropriate limits on a
service based osuch criteriaasmedical necessity or on utilization control procedures.”
42 C.F.R. 8§ 440.230(d) (emphasis added). TowrQeads the regulatits use of the words
“such criteria as” to mean that “medical nesigy” and “utilization control procedures” are
examples, not the only grounds upon which an agency may place limitations on a servics
Seee.qg, Health Care Financing AdministratioRfoposed Rules, Payment for Covered
Outpatient Drugs under Drug Rebate Agreetmenth Manufacturers, 60 Fed. Reg. 48442,
48458 (1995) (noting that prior to enactmehin amendment to Title XIX in 1990
applicable only to prescription drugs, “[g¢pa could establish amnt, duration, and scope
restrictions on Medicaidervices, including prescription dsug. . . based on such criteria as
medical necessity and utilization controt,[these restrictionEould be based on other
factorsso long as the amount of the services jpled was sufficient to ‘reasonably achieve
its purpose’) (emphasis added).

ORDER - 46

on a

4

==

D

L.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

institutional care. At oral argument, plaffs posited an entirely novel legal theory,
contending that whenever the State aliisrsommunity-based séces, the State is
obligated to inform beneficiaas of their right to receivmstitutional care. Plaintiffs
cite no authority to supportithproposition, which is dialy contrary to the plain
language of the free choice provisiinSee e.q, 42 U.S.C. § 1396n(d)(2)(C) (stating
that individuals must be informed of tHeasible alternatives to the provision of

skilled nursing facility or intermediate care facility service$ (emphasis added3ee

also42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(2)(C). The Coumjects any such requirement, and
concludes that plaintiffs have faileddemonstrate a likelihood of success on the
merits for their freedom of choice claith.

e. Federal Approval Requirement

Finally, plaintiffs contend that the 201tdduction is a material change in the
State’s Medicaid plan that requires federal appro8ae42 C.F.R. § 430.12(c)(1)(ii).
As previously noted by this Court, and alspa different court in this district in
connection with the 2009 buegreduction, federal apprahis not required because

Washington’s Medicaid plan does not dése a minimum number of personal care

“® The Court also notes that piéiffs received notice of theirght to receive alternative care
when they originally elected to receive comitysbased care in lieu of institutional care.
Seege.q, 2d McNeill Decl. af 12 (docket no. 132).

*" The Court also rejects plaintiffs’ contam that the reduction in services will place

beneficiaries in the untenable position of eitbhoosing to go without needed care or
submitting to unwarranted institutionalizatioBeee.g, Ball v. Rodgers492 F.3d 1094,
1107 (9th Cir. 2007). As previously noted, pldisthave failed to meet their burden to show
a likelihood of irreparable harmand as such, cannot show that the reduced services will faj
to satisfy beneficiariediealth and safety needs.
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service hours or, for that matter, a methodaitulating personal care service hours.

Order at 20 (docket no. 7&eealsoFreeman v. Wash. Dep’t 8foc. & Health Servs.

2010 WL 3720285 (\WD. Wash.). As such, the plaed reductions doot amend the
state plan or trigger the need for federal appro8aeFreeman 2010 WL 3720285 at
*9 (“Because [Washington’s] state Medicaldn does not indicate the number of
hours or the methodology to be usedi@&termining the number of hours to be
provided to recipients, any modificationtteat methodology need not be reflected in
an amendment to the statampl’). Accordingly, plainffs have failed to show a
likelihood of success on the nits on this claim.

D. Balance of the Equitiesand the Public Interest

The Court is tasked with balancing piglifs’ claims of potential harm with the
State’s inability to fund the pessal care services prograrRlaintiffs argue that when
balancing the medical needs of the indigamydinst a State’s budgetary crisis, the
Ninth Circuit has come down firmly on tlsede of preserving medical benefits.

Independent Living Ctr, 572 F.3d at 659 (“State budgst@oncerns cannot . . . ‘be

the conclusive factor in decisions regaglMedicaid.”). However, these reductions
do not involve medical care. Rather, tbése deals with personal care services;
assistance with activities of daily livipgerformed by caregive who have no
particular medical training.

In addition, the recorthcludes evidence about teeeps the State will be

required to take if the service reductiaasnot take effect. Dreyfus Decl. at § 6
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(docket no. 124); Ex. 3 to 20ork Decl. (docket no. 134)Consequently, the Court is
presented not merely with a question of fic@, but rather, availability of funding for
other critical Medicaid and social service progrdm®laintiffs respond to the State’s
concerns by arguing that tis¢ate can deal with the currdrscal crisis by (1) raising
taxes; (2) closing institutiori§;or (3) simply decliningo balance t budget, in
contravention of state laW. None of plaintiffs’ proposals seriously addresses the
potential harm that will result to other ngdakneficiaries if the State is forced to
make cuts to other social service programs.

Finally, as the Court noted in its denial of plaintiffs’ motion for a temporary
restraining order, DSHS has conducted a aeimgnsive review to determine how beg
to accomplish the fiscal goals mandated by the governor, and it has applied its
expertise in weighing the competing intesest the various clients it serves. Thus,

even if a few of the plairfts ultimately require institutinalization as a result of the

“8 The reductions to personal care servigissave the State $19.2 million dollars over the
remaining five months of the fiscal bienniuBreyfus Decl. at 5 (docket no. 124). Thus,
for each month the State is enjoined fronpliementing the reduction in personal care servig
hours, the State might have to find an addisl $3.8 million dollars by cutting other social
service programsSeeid.

9 The Supreme Court has expressly rejectadraading of the ADA that would force states
to close institutions ttund community-based car®Imstead 527 U.S. at 604 (“The ADA is

not reasonably read to impel States to phase out institutions, placing patients in need of
care at risk.”).

*0 plaintiffs contend that the Washington 8t@onstitution permits the State to run a budget
deficit. SeeWasH. ConsT. art. 8, 88 1(b), 8. But State lagguiresthe governor to balance
the budget if at any time during the fiscalrimam, the governor projects a cash defiSee
RCW 43.88.110(7) (“If at any time during thedal period the governor projects a cash
deficit . . . the governahall make across-the-board reductioamsillotments . . . so as to
prevent a cash deficit.”) (emp$ia added). To the extentpitiffs actually contend that
violating State law is an alternative to the budgeuctions, the Courtjexts that contention.
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State’s reduction in services, the Court cgraonclude that the threat to these
individuals outweighs the State’s interaspreserving the carefully orchestrated
personal care services program that curresglyes more than 45,000 individuals. Fq
the same reasons, the Court canoictude that the possible threat of
institutionalization for a few personal caresee beneficiaries outeighs the State’s
interest in balancing the competing needs of a host of different state-sponsored s
service programs that currently provide aid to a diverse group of medically and
financially disadvantaged state residents.

The Court concludes that the balancéhef equities tips in favor of the State,
and as a consequence, the public intesestid not be served by forcing DSHS to
target perhaps more vulnerable individualpagrams while the merits of plaintiffs’
claims in this m#er are resolved.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the GdDENIES plaintifs’ motion for a
preliminary injunction, docket no. 95.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

The Clerk is directed to send a copytlus Order to all counsel of record.

DATED this 9th day of February, 2011.

WSW

Thomas S. Zilly
United States District Judge
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